#### No. 70727-2-I

# IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

JANE CHO,

Plaintiff, Appellant

VS.

THE CITY OF SEATTLE et. al.,,

Defendant/Respondent

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF KING
CAUSE No.: 12-2-24507-0 SEA
HONORABLE SEAN O'DONNELL, Trial Judge

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RONALD L. UNGER, WSBA #16875 BUCKLEY & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellants 675 South Lane Street Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone (206) 622-1100

##

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred when it granted the City's motion for summary judgment. It erred again when it denied Cho's motion for reconsideration. The issue on assignments of error are set out below.

1. Washington law requires the City to install safety treatments at the intersection. Construing all evidence in favor of Jane Cho, did the City's negligent conduct, which it admits for purposes of its summary judgment, "proximately cause" the collision when: 1) the collision would not have happened if the City controlled traffic through manual means, such as by using a traffic officer; 2) according to the declaration of Jane Cho, the collision would not have happened if the City had installed a pedestrian island, and 3) according to a human factors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The duty owed to assist pedestrians was recently articulated in *Chen v. City of Seattle*, 153 Wn. App. 890 at p. 907 and p. 909, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009), which held that on a case with similar facts, the City's duty to eliminate unsafe conditions at an intersection "must be determined with respect to all of the surrounding circumstances" and as the danger increases, the City is "required" to exercise greater caution.

expert, the collision would not have happened if the City had installed a traffic signal.

2. Construing all evidence in favor of Jane Cho, does the negligent conduct of a third party (Ms. Mars) cut off the causal chain of the city's duty to maintain its roadways, including intersections, in a reasonably safe manner? Or rather, should that issue be decided by a trier of fact?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 11, 2012, Jane Cho and some of her friends attended a concert at the Showbox, located at the southeast corner of First and Massachusetts. CP 269-270. The Showbox holds nearly 2,000 people and the concert was either sold out or nearly sold out. CP 180: 15- CP 181: 5; See also CP 148: 9-11.

After the show ended, the crowd of people, including Ms. Cho, headed for the exits. CP 269- 270; CP 149: 1-4. The Showbox had two exit doors located within close proximity, and both of those doors funneled people onto the sidewalk east of First Avenue South and just south of Massachusetts. CP 189: 10-20; CP 194: 1-3; CP 214.

Although the Showbox was located on the Southeast side of the intersection, one of its main parking lots was located on the northwest side of the intersection. CP 330; CP 284; CP 193: 10-17. Because of that, the

crowd of people leaving the Showbox would walk west across First Avenue South. CP 149: 1-2; see also CP 195: 3-5.

Ed Stevens, a traffic engineer went to the intersection and counted the number of people who crossed 1<sup>st</sup> Avenue South. He discovered that when there was no event at the Showbox, there were relatively few pedestrians crossing the street, but when an event was taking place at the Showbox, there were hundreds of pedestrians crossing 1<sup>st</sup> Avenue South. CP 273: 16- CP 274: 9; CP 286- 288. Another traffic engineer, Daniel Melcher, also went to the intersection on a night the Showbox had an event and counted 166 pedestrian crossings from 7:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m., 426 pedestrian crossings from 8:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. and 289 pedestrian crossings from 9:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. CP 340.

1<sup>st</sup> Avenue was a wide street that had heavy vehicle traffic. CP 204: 15-17; CP 230-231. It had two lanes northbound, two lanes southbound, a two way left turn lane and wide shoulders bordering each outside lane. CP 191: 13-16; CP 286- 288. CP 327-332. And although there were literally hundreds and hundreds of pedestrians crossing 1<sup>st</sup> Avenue to get to and from the Showbox, which served alcohol to them, CP 183; CP 188, the City of Seattle failed to implement any safety measure to prevent pedestrian/ vehicle conflicts. CP 182: 11-24; CP 337-

CP 341. The intersection had no traffic or pedestrian signal, no stop sign, no pedestrian island, no flashing over-hang warning motorists of pedestrian crossings, nor did the City employ any person to direct or control traffic to assist people crossing the street safely. CP 269-270; CP 182: 13-18; CP 154: 21- CP 155:25 The City failed to implement any of these safety devices, even though they issued a permit to allow the Showbox to serve alcohol to thousands of people on a regular and frequent basis at concerts in its building at the southeast corner of the intersection. CP 181: 17-20; CP 192: 11-24; CP 187; CP 337- 341.

Although the Showbox had been operating since September, 2007, it was not until 2009 that the City finally determined event traffic would benefit from a traffic signal. CP 331, 335. The City did not install the signal, nor the marked crosswalks,<sup>2</sup> until after the collision at issue in this case occurred. CP 192L 20; CP 328; CP 150: 13-15. Before the City put the light in, it was difficult for people to cross because of all the traffic on 1st Avenue. As stated by one of the security managers at the Showbox:

Q. Have you ever seen people having problems getting across 1st Avenue South on foot because of traffic on 1st Avenue?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Instead of implementing any of the pedestrian safety enhancements described in the foregoing paragraph, the City simply removed the marked crosswalks across 1<sup>st</sup> Avenue South. That occurred in August, 2007, over the objection of a concerned citizen. CP 334.

- A. Yes.
- Q. Can you tell me about that?
- A. Before the lights came up it was difficult.
- A. Yes.
- Q. And so before they put that light up, were people having problems getting across the road safely because of the traffic on 1st Avenue?
- A. Sometimes.
- Q. And when people were trying to cross the street, did cars have to stop to let pedestrians go across?
- A. Yes.
- Q. OK. Sometimes when people cross a street they will take a couple of steps into the street and try to make sure a car that's coming will stop so that they can finish crossing the street; did you ever see anything like that?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Was that a common occurrence at 1st Avenue South and South Massachusetts?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you saw that before the October 2010 accident, I guess, multiple times?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay, and again that's because of the heavy traffic on 1st Avenue?
- MR. SUTHERLAND: Object to the form.
- A. Yes.

Q. And that's because there is a lot of pedestrians that are trying to cross 1st Avenue?

A. Yes.

CP 150:3- CP 151: 25.

Similarly, another security person at the Showbox testified:

- Q. Have you ever heard of anybody having a problem crossing 1st Avenue South?
- A. I have heard of people -- I have seen people have difficult times crossing 1st Avenue South.
- Q. Can you tell us what you saw in that respect?
- A. Typically after a busy night, people waiting for traffic to die down so that they can cross the street.
- Q. At the time of this motor vehicle collision, there was no light at 1st Avenue and Massachusetts; is that correct?
- A. I believe so, yes.
- Q. After they put the light in, did that difficulty go away?
- A. For the most part, yes.

CP226: 11-24.

Ms. Mars stopped immediately after the impact, stopping within 30 feet of the collision. CP165: 3; CP 197- 198 and CP 212-213. One of the security managers at the Showbox who witnessed the collision testified he saw Ms. Mars get out of her car and she did not appear intoxicated. CP 170: 1-12

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of review.

The de novo standard of review applies to this court's review of the trial court's decision granting the summary judgment *Korslund v. DynCorp Tri–Cities Servs., Inc.*, 156 Wn.2d 168, 177, 125 P.3d 119 (2005). But this court defers to the discretion of the trial court's decision to accept the supplemental declaration of Dr. Vigilante on the motion for reconsideration. *Chen v. State*, 86 Wn. App. 183, 192, 937 P.2d 612, review denied, 133 Wash.2d 1020, 948 P.2d 387 (1997).

B. All facts and inferences must be construed in favor of the plaintiffs. When doing so, Ms. Cho has produced evidence beyond speculation that the City's negligence was a proximate cause of the collision.

Summary judgment is appropriate only where there are no genuine issues of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154

Wn.2d 493, 501, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). In addition, all facts and inferences from facts must be construed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Lybbert v. Grant County*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 34, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). Based on the evidence construed in a light most favorable to Cho, the following facts have been established:

- 1. Because of the numerous pedestrians trying to cross 1<sup>st</sup>
  Avenue South, the City had a duty to control traffic.
  That duty included the duty to stop vehicles so pedestrians could cross. If the City had stopped vehicles, Jane Cho would not have been struck;
- 2. The City also had a duty to geometrically re-design the road, such as building a pedestrian island, so pedestrians could get across the street without being hit. If that had occurred, Jane Cho would have used the island and the collision would not have happened;
- 3. The City had a duty to install a traffic light. If they had done so, the light would have either been green for Ms. Mars and red for Ms. Cho or red for Ms. Mars and green for Ms. Cho. Either way, the collision would not have taken place.

# C. The question of the City's duty and breach of same was not argued below.

The City did not bring the question of its duty and breach of its duty before the court. CP 128: 22-23; CP 129: 15-18. Per the declaration of Daniel Melcher at CP 317-361, and based on the case law,<sup>3</sup> the City: 1) breached its obligation to control vehicle/ pedestrian conflicts; 2) breached

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. App. 890 at p. 907 and p. 909, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009), discussed in footnote 1.

its obligation to install a pedestrian island which would have given Ms. Cho a safe refuge; and 3) breached its obligation to install a traffic or pedestrian half signal. Construing all inferences in favor of Ms. Cho, the evidence is sufficient to allow a trier of fact to conclude the City's breaches proximately caused the collision.

# D. Negligent conduct of Ms. Mars did not cut the causal chain of the City's own negligent conduct; rather, a jury could conclude both contributed to the injury.

The City's entire argument was that the chain of causation from its own negligent conduct was cut off because Ms. Mars drove in a negligent fashion while intoxicated. However, in light of the declaration of William Vigilante at CP 289-316 and CP 513-519, the degree of Ms. Mars' negligence is disputed and therefore an issue of fact for the jury. In this regard, Ms. Mars drove just fine all the way from Seattle to Tacoma and back again, and then from her apartment to the West Seattle Bridge and then to the scene of the collision. Unlike the cases relied on by the City of Seattle, discussed below, she did not punch the accelerator and swerve erratically, 4 she was not driving at an unusually fast speed, 5 she was not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Medrano v. Schwendeman, 66 Wn. App. at p. 609 (1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Klein v. City of Seattle, 41 Wn. App. at p. 637-638 (1985); Braegelmann v. County of Snohomish, 53 Wn. App. at p. 382, 385 (1989); Kristjanson v. City of Seattle, 25 Wn. App. at p. 325 (1980).

having her passenger steer while she worked the pedals,<sup>6</sup> and she did not turn the wheel and crash into an object outside of her lane.<sup>7</sup> Rather, she remained in her lane, which is where the impact occurred and her only negligence is that she did not see pedestrians cross out from behind an obstruction. CP 335. She stopped immediately, within 30 feet of the collision. And one of the security managers testified he saw no sign of intoxication.

Moreover, even intentional criminal conduct of an intervening actor does not, as a matter of law, cut the causal chain of another actor's negligence. See *Parrilla v. King County*, 138 Wn.App. 427, 437, 157 P.3d 879 (2007) (citing *Bernethy v. Walt Failor's, Inc.*, 97 Wn. 2d 929, 653 P.2d 280). As recently stated by Division III:

The issue of proximate cause, by contrast, is usually a question for the trier of fact. Levea v. G.A. Gray Corp., 17 Wash.App. 214, 219, 562 P.2d 1276 (1977). Specifically, Washington courts have consistently held that it is for the jury to determine whether the act of a third party is a superseding cause or simply a concurring one. Eckerson v. Ford's Prairie Sch. Dist. No. 11, 3 Wash.2d 475, 483–84, 101 P.2d 345 (1940).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Kristjanson v. City of Seattle, 25 Wn. App. at p. 325 (1980)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Medrano v. Schwendeman, 66 Wn. App. at p. 609 (1992). Klein v. City of Seattle, 41 Wn. App. at p. 637-638 (1985); Braegelmann v. County of Snohomish, 53 Wn. App. at p. 382 (1989); Miller v. Likins, 109 Wn. App. at pp. 143-144 (2001); Cunningham v. State of Washington, 61 Wn. App. at p. 564, 571 (1991).

There may be more than one proximate cause of an injury. State v. Jacobsen, 74 Wash.2d 36, 37, 442 P.2d 629 (1968). And the concurrent negligence of a third party does not break the chain of causation between original negligence and the injury. Id. If the defendant's original negligence continues and contributes to the injury, the intervening negligence of another is an additional cause. It is not a superseding cause and does not relieve the defendant of liability. Doyle v. Nor–West Pac. Co., 23 Wash.App. 1, 6, 594 P.2d 938 (1979); Eckerson, 3 Wash.2d 475, 101 P.2d 345.

The general rule is that the contributing concurrent negligence of a third person is not a defense if the defendant's negligence was an "efficient cause" without which the injury would not have occurred. Eskildsen v. City of Seattle, 29 Wash. 583, 586, 70 P. 64 (1902). The rule is found in Restatement (Second) of Torts § 439: "If the effects of the actor's negligent conduct actively and continuously operate to bring about harm to another, the fact that the active and substantially simultaneous operation of the effects of a third person's innocent, tortious, or criminal act is also a substantial factor in bringing about the harm does not protect the actor from liability."

Travis v. Bohannon, 128 Wn. App. 231 at pp. 242-243, 115 P.3d 342 (2005); emphasis supplied; see also Bernethy v. Walt Failor's, 97 Wash.2d at 935, 653 P.2d 280 (1982) (finding it was for the jury to determine whether intentional criminal conduct of another broke the causal chain), accord Mathers v. Stephens, 22 Wn. 2d 364, 370, 156 P.2d 227 (1945); accord Bordynoski v. Bergner, 97 Wn. 2d 335, 341, 644 P.2d 1173 (1982).

More recently, in the context of an inadequate roadway design case against the City of Seattle, this court stated:

The negligence of a third party does not absolve the city of its duty to maintain its roadways, including crosswalks, in a

reasonably safe manner. Tanguma v. Yakima County, 18 Wash.App. 555, 561–62, 569 P.2d 1225 (1977) (quoting Lucas v. Phillips, 34 Wash.2d 591, 597–98, 209 P.2d 279 (1949); Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 447, 449 (1965)).

Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. App. at p. 908 (2009).

Construing all inferences in Ms. Cho's favor, a trier of fact could easily conclude that the City's negligence in failing to install a traffic light, in failing to install a pedestrian island, and in failing to control vehicle/pedestrian conflicts was a contributing cause of the injury.

E. Not only are the City's cases distinguishable, they were rightfully reversed by *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237, 44 P.3d 845 (2002) and by *Lowman v. Wilbur*, 178 Wn. 2d 165, 309 P. 2d 387 (2013).

The issue of "proximate cause" is inextricably "intertwined" with the question of "duty." *Michaels v. CH2M Hill, Inc.*, 171 Wn. 2d 587, 611, 257 P.3d 532 (2011); *Lowman v. Wilbur*, 178 Wn. 2d 165, 169, 309 P. 2d 387 (2013). Although the City recognizes "proximate cause" cannot be analyzed without first examining the scope of the duty owed<sup>8</sup> CP 132: 8-16; the City failed to undergo any type of duty analysis whatsoever. In *Chen*, this court stated that the scope of the duty owed by the City of Seattle is to all persons using the road and goes well beyond eliminating "inherently dangerous" or "misleading" conditions. *Chen v. City of* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See also Hartley v. State, 103 Wash.2d 768, 780, 698 P.2d 77 (1985) "whether liability should attach is essentially another aspect of the policy decision which we confronted in deciding whether the duty exists").

Seattle, 153 Wn. App. 890, 894, 901-905, 909, 223 P. 2d 1230 (2009). What the City must do to meet its obligation is based on the "totality" of the "surrounding circumstances," id., and "as the danger [at a particular roadway] becomes greater, the [municipality] is required to exercise caution commensurate with it." Chen, 153 Wn. App. at p. 909, quoting Berglund v. Spokane County, 4 Wn. 2d 309, 317-318, 103 P.2d 355 (1940).

Not only did the City fail to analyze the duty owed, but the cases it relied on, Klein v. City of Seattle, 41 Wn. App. 636, 705 P. 2d 806 (1985), Braegelman v. County of Snohomish, 53 Wn. App. 381, 766 P. 2d 1137 (1989), Miller v. Likins, 109 Wn. App. 140, 34 P. 3d 835 (2001) and Medrano v. Schwendeman, 66 Wn. App. 607, 836 P. 2d 833 (1992) (all of which suggest a municipality has no legal liability, as a matter of law, if another driver's severe negligent conduct intervenes) are distinguishable on the facts, 9 based on a faulty analysis 10 and were effectively reversed by Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 44 P.3d 845 (2002) and Lowman v. Wilbur, 178 Wn. 2d 165, 309 P.3d 387 (2013). Unger v. Cauchon, 118 Wn. App. 165, 175, 73 P. 3d 1005 (2003), a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See "IV D" above. <sup>10</sup> *Id*.

Division I case adopting the argument that *Keller* reversed the *Braegelmann*<sup>11</sup> line of cases.

Before *Keller* was decided, there was some confusion regarding whether a municipality owed its obligation to keep its roadways safe when they were used in a negligent manner. Municipalities, such as the City of Seattle, would routinely argue it had no duty to guard against unforeseeable negligent conduct.<sup>12</sup> The roadway authority based their argument on language contained in *Ruff v. King County*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 704, 887 P. 2d 886 (1995), wherein the Supreme Court stated:

We recognize that the duty to maintain a roadway in a reasonably safe condition may require a county to post warning signs or erect barriers if the condition along the roadway makes it inherently dangerous or of such character as to mislead a traveler exercising reasonable care, or where the maintenance of signs or barriers is prescribed by law.

Ruff, 125 Wn.2d at 705.

Seven years later, the court clarified the duties outlined in the *Ruff* case when it decided the scope of municipal liability in *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237, 44 P.3d 845 (2002). In that case, a motorcycle

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Braegelmann v. County of Snohomish, 58 Wn. App. 381, 766 P. 2d 1137 (1989).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> That argument was made by the City of Seattle even after *Keller* was decided. Rightfully, it was rejected by this court in *Chen v. City of Seattle*, 153 Wn. App. 890 at p. 907-908, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009).

driver sued the City for negligence, claiming it should have placed stop signs at an intersection. But evidence was presented that the motorcycle rider had been traveling 80 mph in a 30 mph zone, with his headlights off, before he crashed. The jury found the City had no liability but the Court of Appeals reversed, because it found the following jury instruction, which was based on WPI 140.01, "misleading and legally erroneous" 13:

A city has a duty to exercise ordinary care in the signing and maintaining of its public streets to keep them in a condition that is reasonably safe for ordinary travel by persons using them in a proper manner and exercising ordinary care for their own safety.

Keller, 146 Wn.2d at 241, 250. In remanding the case for another trial, the Supreme Court held that:

> a municipality owes a duty to all persons, whether negligent or fault-free, to build and maintain its roadways in a condition that is reasonably safe for ordinary travel.

Keller, 146 Wn.2d at 249.

The "misleading and legally erroneous" jury instruction rejected in Keller was not only practically identical to the one given in Klein, 14 but

A city has a duty to exercise ordinary care in the design, and maintenance of its public roads to keep them in such a condition that they are reasonably safe for ordinary travel by persons using them in a proper manner and exercising ordinary care for their own safety.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> *Keller*, 146 Wn. 2d at p. 250 (2002).
<sup>14</sup> The jury instruction in *Klein* stated:

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