70727-2

70727.8

## No. 70727-2-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

## OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, SEATTLE

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of a summary judgment is de novo, and the appellate court must conduct the same inquiry as the trial court and view all admissible material facts and reasonable inferences from them most favorably to the appellant. Renner v. City of Marysville, 145 Wn. App. 443, 448-49, 187 P.3d 286 (2008). Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, affidavits, and depositions establish both the absence of genuine issues of material fact and that movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id. Whether the City owed a duty, and the nature of that duty (the standard of care) are questions for the court to decide. Tincani v. Inland Empire, 124 Wn.2d 121, 128, 875 P.2d 621 (1994); Gall v. McDonald Indus., 84 Wn. App. 194, 202-03, 926 P.2d 934 (1996). A court should also determine as a matter of law that a duty was not breached and/or that a breach of duty did

not proximately cause the accident if the court finds insufficient evidence to support a jury finding on those issues, or if it finds no legal causation. *Ruff v. King Cy.*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703-04 887 P.2d 886 (1995).

A non-moving party may not rely on speculation or argumentative assertions, even from an expert, to defeat summary judgment. *Craig v. Washington Trust Bank*, 94 Wn. App. 820, 824, 976 P.2d 126 (1999). In this case, Cho having failed to produce evidence sufficient to support an argument beyond speculation or conjecture, the trial court properly concluded that no act or omission of the City could be a proximate cause of this collision.

# B. TO SURVIVE SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PROXIMATE CAUSE, CHO HAS THE BURDEN OF PROVING CAUSE-IN-FACT, WHICH SHE CANNOT DO UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

In any negligence action, a plaintiff is required to prove not only that the defendant owed a duty to the plaintiff and that the defendant breached that duty, but that the breach was a proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries. *Tincani, supra* at 127. The issue of proximate cause is separate and distinct from the issues of duty and breach, and evidence of a breach of duty is not necessarily evidence of proximate cause. *Lynn v. Labor Ready, Inc.*, 136 Wn. App. 295, 306, 151 P.3d 201 (2006), *rev. den.* 104 Wn.2d 1021 (1985).

A proximate cause of an injury is a cause which, in a direct sequence, unbroken by any new, independent cause, produces the injury complained of and without which the injury would not have occurred. Stoneman v. Wick Constr. Co., 55 Wn.2d 639, 643, 349 P.2d 215 (1960). Proximate cause comprises two elements: (1) cause in fact and (2) legal cause. Baughn v. Honda Motor Co. Ltd., 107 Wn.2d 127, 727 P.2d 655 (1986). Cause in fact refers to the "but for" consequences of an act, or the physical connection between an act and the resulting injury. Hartley v. State, 103 Wn.2d 768, 698 P.2d 77 (1985). Legal causation "rests on policy considerations as to how far the consequences of a defendant's acts should extend [and] involves a determination of whether liability should attach as a matter of law given the existence of cause in fact." Id. at 779. Legal causation is a matter reserved for the court, and one that is a requisite prong of any negligence action. Hartley, supra.

To survive summary judgment on proximate cause, the elements of both cause in fact and legal causation must be satisfied. *Ayers v. Johnson & Johnson Baby Prods. Co.*, 117 Wn.2d 747, 753, 818 P.2d 1337 (1991).

Cho argues (1) had the intersection contained a signal light or flagger,<sup>4</sup> Carpenter would not have hit her and (2) had there been a pedestrian island, Cho would have stopped before being struck by Carpenter. Neither contention can be supportable under the facts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Plaintiff refers to various persons to control traffic: a police officer, a traffic officer, or any person. Appellants' brief at 3, 10, 13. Later references here to a "flagger" refer to this person, who plaintiff alleges should have been present to control traffic.

#### C. CHO'S ARGUMENTS ARE BASED ON SPECULATION.

As an evidentiary matter, arguments premised on speculation as to how events might have transpired differently had a signal light, pedestrian island or flagger been in place fail under the requirements of CR 56(e). It is hornbook law<sup>5</sup> that proximate cause cannot be predicated on speculation or conjecture; as is relevant here, that rule applies whether the speculation is offered to prove the possibility that a signal light, island, or flagger *might* have operated in such a way as to have led to different behaviors on the part of both Cho and the drunk driver. The evidentiary rule prohibiting speculation applies regardless of whether the speculation proffered is from an expert (Mr. Vigilante) or Ms. Cho herself. *Gardner v. Seymour*, 27 Wn.2d 802, 808, 180 P.2d 564 (1947) (evidence sufficient to survive summary judgment on proximate cause must rise above guess, speculation, or conjecture); *Craig v. Washington Trust Bank*, 94 Wn. App. 820, 976 P.2d 126 (1999) (speculation, even by an expert, cannot defeat summary judgment); *Moore v. Hagge*, 158 Wn. App. 137, 241 P.3d 787 (2010) (one's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See W. PAGE KEETON ET AL., PROSSER AND KEETON ON THE LAW OF TORTS § 41 at 269 (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 1984)

On the issue of the fact of causation, as on other issues essential to the cause of action for negligence, the plaintiff, in general, has the burden of proof. The plaintiff must introduce evidence which affords a reasonable basis for the conclusion that it is more likely than not that the conduct of the defendant was a cause in fact of the result. A mere possibility of such causation is not enough; and when the matter remains one of pure speculation or conjecture, or the probabilities are at best evenly balanced, it becomes the duty of the court to direct a verdict for the defendant.

own speculation as to how one probably would have proceeded is inadmissible).

1. CHO CANNOT ESTABLISH THAT THE PRESENCE OF A PEDESTRIAN ISLAND, SIGNAL LIGHT OR FLAGGER WOULD HAVE CHANGED THE BEHAVIOR OF EITHER CHO OR THE DRUNK DRIVER.

The crux of plaintiff's arguments is that the City created a dangerous condition that caused her to be hit by a drunk driver who failed to yield while she and several other pedestrians used an unmarked crosswalk to get to the other side of the street.

First, she argues that if a signal light had been in place, she would have pushed a pedestrian button while waiting for the pedestrian signal (to turn green). CP 270. Second, she argues that if the light was red for her, she would not have proceeded into the intersection, and would have avoided the drunk driver. Third, she claims that if the drunk driver had a red light, the red light would have caused the drunk driver to stop and would have prevented her from hitting Cho and others. Fourth, she argues that if a pedestrian island had been provided, she would not have been hit because the island would have caused her to wait until the driver passed, assumingly without incident. Fifth, she claims the mere presence of a flagger would have prevented the collision. CP 270.

Cho's arguments are speculative, and are not supported by actual facts in evidence. *Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound*, 110 Wash. 2d 355, 359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988). ("A fact is an event, an occurrence, or something that exists in reality. *Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary* 813

(1976). It is what took place, an act, an incident, a reality as distinguished from supposition or opinion. 35 C.J.S. *Fact* 489 (1960)").

While Cho claims in her declaration that she has personal knowledge of what she would have done if either a pedestrian island, signal light, or flagger had been present, and that their presence would have prevented the collision, she fails to allege facts—something that exists in reality. Nothing the City did or didn't do prevented Cho from stopping in time to avoid Carpenter. Moreover, under Moore v. Hagge Cho's own speculation as to how she probably would have proceeded is inadmissible. Id. at 154.

Cho's experts' declarations similarly fail to contain anything other than speculative and immaterial statements. First, the declaration of her civil engineer, Ed Stevens, that he personally conducted pedestrian and traffic counts of the subject intersection in 2011 fail to show any relevance of that data to this 2010 accident—particularly when the appearance of the intersection, street design, and structures in the immediate vicinity were different in 2010. CP 273-274. Second, Cho's traffic engineering expert, Daniel Melcher's conclusion that traffic controls would most likely have prevented the collision is nothing more than a conclusory statement that is premised on the effect a red light or pedestrian island would have had on 1st Ave. motorists and pedestrians. CP 318. Indeed, a red light cannot

"stop vehicles"—it merely regulates who has the right of way; only drivers can stop vehicles. Similarly, a pedestrian island does not control a pedestrian—the pedestrian controls the pedestrian.

Third, Cho's human factors expert, William Vigilante, relying on Stevens and Melcher, opined "within the bounds of reasonable scientific certainty" that a traffic signal would have prevented the collision from occurring." CP 315. Vigilante's opinion that it was foreseeable that the lack of traffic signal controls would cause this driver—whom he described as "a reasonably attentive driver<sup>6</sup>," to "not readily detect the unexpected presence of the pedestrians crossing 1<sup>st</sup> Ave. South" blatantly ignores glaring facts, and admissible evidence established by the driver's sworn statements as to her emotionally-charged state of mind, intoxication and most importantly, her turning her attention away from the intersection at the time she collided into the crossing pedestrians.

Rather than rely on evidence, Cho suggests (1) this Court "take judicial notice that inattentive or intoxicated drivers are not surprising or usual and is a routine and expected occurrence."; and (2) "[i]t was foreseeable that a vehicle driven down 1<sup>st</sup> Ave. South would not see

As examples, he ignores the fact that she missed her exit off the West Seattle Bridge and drove without her headlights illuminated before plowing into 5 pedestrians. CP 396 and 109.

pedestrians crossing a busy road at night. Especially [sic] because another vehicle was on Mars' left, blocking her view of pedestrians." Appellant's brief at 28-29. The problem with Vigilante's analysis is that he does not take into consideration that Carpenter was highly intoxicated, and had a BAC of .29, almost 4 times the legal limit. RCW 46.61.502. Vigilante cites to no studies that support his position that drunk drivers can drive safely if roads are properly designed. Scientific research, such as the studies relied on by the NTSB, flatly contradict his opinion. Without studies supporting his position, his testimony cannot assist the jury and does not tend to prove proximate cause. ER 702.

In *Safeco Ins. Co. v. McGrath*, 63 Wn. App. 170, 178, 817 P.2d 861 (1991), this court addressed the effect alcohol intoxication can have on the ability to drive a motor vehicle:

The effect of measured amounts of alcohol on the ability to operate a motor vehicle has been the subject of extensive scientific research. Based upon such research, an expert may testify that after X drinks within Y hours an individual's ability to operate his automobile is affected, regardless of age, sex, weight or other physical qualities.

. .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Footnote 3, p. 5, infra.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See a recent report by the National Transportation Safety Board ("NTSB") entitled "Reaching Zero: Actions to Eliminate Alcohol-Impaired Driving," detailing alcohol's effects on drivers: divided attention, perception, and reaction time. CP 591-612. "In sum, the NTSB concludes that BAC levels as low as .01 have been associated with driving-related performance impairment, and BAC levels as low as .05 have been associated with significantly increased risk of fatal crashes." *Id.* at 612.

Indeed this scientific basis is what permits imposing criminal liability in drivers on the basis of blood alcohol on their breath.

Accordingly, based upon countless studies conducted over decades of scientific research, it is undisputed that while impaired drivers attempt to obey the rules of the road, they often do not and are not able to. That is why driving while under the influence of alcohol is a crime. Impaired drivers are just that: impaired. The City did not cause Carpenter's impairment. Carpenter's impairment caused Cho's injuries.

D. WHEN A DRIVER LOOKS AWAY FROM THE ROAD AND HITS A PEDESTRIAN IN A CROSSWALK, THE DRIVER'S INATTENTIVENESS IS THE CAUSE-IN-FACT OF THE COLLISION.

One need not look far to find a published case with similar facts directly on point with this case. In *Garcia v. State*, 161 Wn. App. 1, 16, 270 P.3d 599 (2011), this court found where a driver was not facing forward to the roadway, an argument that a municipality's failure to provide further visual clues was the proximate cause of the accident is "pure speculation."

In *Garcia*, Ms. Cushing drove towards a marked crosswalk where Garcia was crossing, failing to notice that a line-up of two other cars in the lane next to hers had stopped at the crosswalk to allow Garcia to pass. *Id* at 3-6. Because Cushing was talking to her son, who was seated in the

front passenger seat, she was not looking ahead or paying attention to the road and struck Garcia. *Id.* at 6. Garcia's estate alleged negligence on the part of the State and claimed that had it installed an operable "roving eyes" warning sign at the crosswalk, the driver would have noticed and stopped before hitting Garcia. *Id.* at 7-8.

This court rejected that argument, noting that it was the driver's inattentiveness to the road, not the alleged inadequacy of the crosswalk or lack of a traffic device that caused plaintiff's injuries. *See Id.* at 16. Nor did it matter to the court that Cushing turned her attention back to the roadway two seconds before hitting Garcia once her son yelled out to alert her to the pedestrian, arguably allowing for time to react to the presence of a crosswalk warning sign. *Id.* at 3. The driver in *Garcia* was estimated to be traveling 36 m.p.h. before hitting the brakes, which is approximately the same speed Carpenter drove. CP 109.

Under *Garcia*, it is speculation to say that Carpenter might have stopped if provided different cues. Carpenter did not perceive and react to existing cues because she was not paying attention to the roadway. Even had she seen the cues, as in *Garcia*, it would not matter if she did not see

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> A roving eyes device is "an overhead LED display that is designed to flash when a pedestrian enters the crosswalk. The display uses a passive detection system designed to 'sense' the presence of a pedestrian and begin flashing." *Garcia*, 161 Wn. App. at 5.

them with enough time to react and stop before reaching the crosswalk. With her head turned away from the street and towards her passenger in a heated argument, Carpenter missed all visual cues (the stopped cars to her left and in front of her, and several pedestrians who were crossing in front of her). Carpenter could not stop for what she did not even look to.

To the extent a sober driver with two seconds to react to a crosswalk warning sign was deemed the cause-in-fact of the pedestrian's injuries in *Garcia*, the same conclusion should apply here as to a drunk and inattentive driver who had no time to react before hitting Cho and others.

Cho's multiple allegations that this intersection was dangerous cannot change the fact that neither of the drivers in the adjacent S/B and N/B lanes had any problem stopping at the unmarked crosswalk to allow Cho and other pedestrians to cross. Nor is there any evidence that Cho and other pedestrians were confused or misled by the roadway condition. As demonstrated below, Cho's arguments are insufficient to survive summary judgment.

In support of its opinion, the Garcia court cited *Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 145 (2001), where a 14-year old boy was injured when he was struck by a car that had allegedly crossed over the fog-line. His mother, as guardian, argued that had Federal Way "taken additional"

precautions,...Likins would have been likely to be more alerted to possible presence of pedestrians, enabling him to avoid a collision." *Id* at 147.

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